# JA-65 "MAESTRO"

# Alarm system - installation manual





## Contents:

- 1. Architecture of the control panel
- 2. Configuration of t he control panel
- 3. Control panel installation
  - 3.1. Power cable wiring
- 4. Antenna of the JA-65R module
  - 4.1. Rubber antenna use in the control panel
  - 4.2. External antenna use
- 5. Connectors and terminals of the main board 6. The JA-65H hard wired input module terminals
- 7. Wiring of the JA-60 keypad(s) 8. Installation of wireless items
- 9. Back up battery installation
- 10. First powering of the control panel
- 11. Control panel programming
  - 11.1. Enrollment (teaching) of wireless items
  - 11.2. Hard-wired zone input setting
  - 11.3. Exit delay
  - 11.4. Entrance delay
  - 11.5. Alarm duration
  - 11.6. PgX and PgY output functions
  - 11.7. Recorded message and phone number editing in the user mode
  - 11.8. Radio signal jamming testing
  - 11.9. Regular communication checking
  - 11.10. Reset enabled
  - 11.11. Controlling of a subsystem
  - 11.12. Enrollment of the control panel to a UC-2xx or to a master control panel
  - 11.13 No code requested for F1, F2, F3, F4, F8 & F9
  - 11.14. Partial (Home) arming with (F2) (non split control panel)
  - 11.15. Hard wired siren alarm enabled
  - 11.16. Exit delay audible indication
  - 11.17. Partial arming exit delay audible indication
  - 11.18. Entrance delay audible indication
  - 11.19. Arming and disarming chirps with hard wired siren
  - 11.20. Siren alarm in Disarm & Partial arming
  - 11.21. Wireless siren alarm
  - 11.22. Indication of system problems when arming
  - 11.23. Control panel splitting
  - 11.24. Only first source of alarm is recorded
  - 11.25. Alarm triggered by opened zone when arming
  - 11.26. Audible panic alarm
  - 11.27. Next delay wireless detectors
  - 11.28. Communication loss alarm
  - 11.27. Entering the programming mode by SC+MC/UC
  - 11.28. Addressing of wireless detectors to sections
  - 11.29. Addressing of the user codes to sections
  - 11.30. Addressing of wireless controllers to sections
  - 11.31. Automatic arming / disarming setting
  - 11.32. New service code setting
  - 11.33. User Mode entering
  - 11.34. Real time and date setting
- 12. System testing
- 13. Control panel factory default reset
- 14. Personal Computer Interface
- 15. Recommended Professional installer basic rules
- 16. Trouble shooting table
- 17. Possibilities to extend the system
  - 17.1 Extension of the system with a subsystem
  - 17.2 Extension of the system with a communicator
  - 17.3 Brief overview of parts suitable for the JA-63 system
- 18. Control panel specifications:

This manual is valid for control panel model JA-65 versions FM61116 (control panel board).

The use of Comlink Windows v. 61 software or higher is required for this control panel and can be obtained from our home page at www.jablotron.com

This product is to be installed by professional installers only. The manufacturer assumes no liability for damages caused by incorrect installation or improper use of this system.

## 1. Architecture of the control panel

The JA-65 "Maestro" is a fully programmable control panel with building block architecture. This allows the JA-65 to be tailored to particular installation requirements. The Maestro can operate as a wireless, wired or combined system.

The JA-65K metal box has a built in electronic power supply. There is space for a 12V, 7Ah back up battery. The 16 zone control panel's main board is installed in the internal platform. The main board does not have any physical zone inputs. This allows you to co figurate the control panel by using the following modules:

- Radio communicating module JA-65R can enroll wireless items (JA-60): up to 16 detectors, up to 8 controllers (remote controls or wireless keypads), JA-60A wireless sirens and UC family wireless output modules.
- Hard-wired input module JA-65H has 8 input loops with programmable triggering (NC, balanced or double balanced)

and programmable reactions. Up to two JA-65H hard-wired input modules can be used in the control panel.

- **GSM dialer JA-60GSM** sends SMS messages, calls to predefined telephone numbers and plays audible warning, communicates with 2 CMS, allows remote access from a phone's keypad and can be set via web page.
- **Telephone communicator JA-65X** can communicate with a Monitoring Station, send voice messages and dial a numeric Pager. It can also communicate with a remote PC (using ComLink SW and a JA-60U modem).
- **Operation and programming** is possible via the JA-60E keypad (or by its wireless option, JA-60F). The control panel can also be operated by a RC-40, RC-22 or RC-60 remote control, by input loop or by a JA-60D wireless keypad. Operation and programming is also possible via a PC using ComLink SW.

This allows the JA-65 to operate as a wireless (16 detectors), wired (8 or 16 inputs) or combined system. An additional JA-63 or JA-65 subsystem control panel can expand the system. The control panel can be split in to two independent sections with a shared common area.



## 2. Configuration of the control panel

The metal case of the JA-65K control panel is shipped from the factory with a built-in power supply unit and the main board. To be able to work as an alarm system, it should be equipped with interface modules (R, H, X, GSM) in the following way:

- open the case and remove the cover
- disconnect the power unit cable from the main board connector K5
- unscrew the module platform (screw on the left side)
- open the platform and remove it from the case
- attach the desired modules to the positions shown in the previous diagram
- connect the modules' cables to the main board in the following way:
  - 60GSM or 65X = K1
  - o 65R = K2
  - 65H = K3 (if two 65H modules are used, connect the left module cable to the right 65H module and the right module cable to the main board's K3 connector)

## 3. Control panel installation

The control panel's case is designed to be attached to the wall, or it can be partly installed into the wall. The rectangular hole on the back side is for cable routing. The hole matches a KT-250 standard junction box. This allows easy specification on how to prepare cables in a house before an alarm system installation.

- If the **65R radio-communicating module** is used, keep in mind that the **antenna will need about 20 cm of clearance.** The 65R module comes with a rubber antenna, but it can also be used with an external antenna, model AN-01. The working range of the wireless accessories is about 100 meters under optimal conditions. However, building materials can absorb or obstruct radio signals and communication can also be effected by interference from other radio signals. For these reasons, you should anticipate a shorter working range for indoor installations.
- **Route all the cables** to the control panel (power, input loops, outputs, telephone line etc.) before you attach the case to the desired location.

**Note:** if you install the case in the wall, the hinges for both the cover & module mounting platform should not be placed within



the wall.

## 3.1. Power cable wiring

The power cable should be connected only by a licensed electrician. The control panel is an electrical safety class II. device with double insulation and power to its power unit must be wired with double insulated two core power cord. No power wire should be connected to the metal case.

Instructions:

K 11

K2

K4 K6

- use flexible 2 core (size from 0.75 to 1.5 mm<sup>2</sup>) double insulated power cord. The system should not share a fuse (10 A max) with any other household item. The fuse is used as a circuit breaker too.
- Attach the cable firmly to the board using the metal brackets. Before you tighten the brackets, check that the wires are tightly screwed in the terminals L and N and be sure that the wires are not longer than shown in the diagram.
- Check connection of the power unit cable to the connector K5 on the main board.

## 4. Antenna of the JA-65R module

If the JA-65R module is installed, it will be possible to enroll wireless detectors, controllers, a JA-60A siren, output modules and another wireless subsystem if required. Enrollment is described in the part 11.1. The 65R module must be equipped with an antenna.

## 4.1 Rubber antenna use in the control panel

There is a hole on the top of the control panel case (remove the plastic cap) for the rubber antenna. The rubber antenna is supplied with the 65R module. Install the antenna after the module mounting platform is inserted and screwed inside the control panel case.



Attach the antenna to the 65R board using a screw as shown in the diagram. The antenna must not be obstructed by any large metal object.

## 4.2 External antenna use

An optional external antenna, model AN-01, can be used with the 65R module. This antenna has a connector, which fits the connector on the 65R module. If you use the external antenna, the rubber antenna should not be installed. The AN-01 antenna has a small plastic ring on its end, used to hang it from the wall. Its active part (from the plastic ring to the coil) should be installed vertically and should not be obstructed by any large metal object. The antenna can be located behind furniture, etc.

# 5. Connectors and terminals of the main board

In addition to the interface module connectors (K1, K2 and K3) the main board has the following connectors:

K5 - power supply connector: the cable from the power unit is connected to this connector. Do not manipulate with the connector when it is powered.

K4, K6 - digital data jacks for the JA-60E keypad(s) and/or for a PC interface cable. Up to five JA-60E keypads can be connected to a JA-65 and the maximum length of the cable can be 500 meters. We recommend use of a CT-04 cable and RJ-44 (Jablotron) crimping connectors to make the keypad cables. The digital data is also available on the terminals: see the following description. **1,2,3,4** - digital data terminals (see K4, K6) provide an option to use standard cable for the wiring of JA-60E keypads. The keypads are also equipped with both jacks and terminals.

The following terminals are on the bottom side of the main board:

- **TMP** a pair of terminals to connect the tamper switch of an external device (for example: a wire operated outdoor siren, OS-300). In normal use, these terminals should be connected together via a 2k2 resistor. Triggering of this loop has the same effect as control panel tampering (a change of ±30% or more of the End Of Line resistor will trigger the input).
- **PGX** is an output (transistor switching to GND, max. 12V, 100mA). The function of this output is determined by the setting in the programming mode (see 11.6). The control panel also wirelessly transmits the PGX signal and unit UC-216 or UC-222 can be used as a remote output of this signal.
- **PGY** is an output (transistor switching to GND, max. 12V, 100mA). The function of this output is determined by the setting in the programming mode (see 11.6). The control panel also wirelessly transmits the PGY signal and unit UC-216 can be used as a remote output of this signal.
- **C** is a common contact of the alarm output relay, max. load 60V / 1A. The relay is turned on during any alarm of the control panel.
- **NC** is a normally closed contact of the alarm output relay.
- **NO** is a normally open contact of the alarm output relay.
- **GND** is a common ground terminal of the power output (-). This terminal is also available on 65H modules.
- **SIR** is an external siren output. In the normal mode it has the +U terminal voltage. In the alarm mode it has a GND terminal potential. Connect an ordinary external siren to +U and SIR terminals (max. load 0,7 A). A back up siren

charging input should be connected to the GND and the SIR terminals (during an alarm, the charging will temporarily halt). The siren can also be used for sounding arming and disarming chirps and as an audible indicator while in the testing mode.

+U is a back up power output for external items (detectors etc.). The max. permanent current is 0.7 or 1.2 A for max. 15 min (not more then one cycle per hour). This output is fused and supervised by the control panel. If it is overloaded, a control panel failure will be indicated (fault C). The multiple +U terminals are also available on the JA-65H hard-wire modules for easier wiring. All +U terminals are connected in parallel to the +U terminal of the main board.

# 6. The JA-65H hard wired input module terminals

Up to two 65H modules can be used in the control panel. The module with its cable connected directly to the main board provides zone inputs 1 to 8. If the second module is installed it will provide zone inputs 9 to 16. The 65H module has the following terminals:

- **1 to 8** zone inputs Normally, detector outputs are wired here: see examples of wiring in diagram. For each input it is possible to program its method of triggering: Normally Closed loop, balanced loop (10k) or double balanced loop (2x 10k) and the type of reaction of the system (see section 11.2).
- **COM** Four common terminals to close (balance) the input loops
- **GND** ground (negative pole) of the power supplier
- +U backup power output for external devices (detectors etc.), max. total consumption form all +U terminals in the control panel can be 0,7 A.



## 7. Wiring of the JA-60 keypad(s)

The system can be programmed and operated by JA-60E keypad(s). As a maximum, 5 keypads can be wired to the control panel. The keypads can either be wired by cables equipped with modular jacks to connectors K4 and K5 or by standard cables to terminals 1,2,3 & 4 on the main control panel board. The same numbered terminals (pins in the connectors) must be linked together. It is possible to combine arbitrary wiring with modular connectors and ordinary cables - see diagram.

When a control panel has a JA-65R radio communicating module installed, it can also be operated and programmed via JA-60F wireless keypad(s) asunder this situation, a minimum of one JA-60E keypad should be connected to the control panel. With a 65R module, the system can also be operated by remote controls RC-40, RC-22 & RC-60, as well as by a JA-60D wireless keypad. The control panel can have up to 8 wireless controllers.

It is also possible to operate and program the JA-65 system via a connected PC with SW ComLink. The PC can be connected locally with a PC-60A or PC-60B interface cable or remotely, using a JA-60U modem if JA-65 module is installed.



## 8. Installation of wireless items

If the control panel is equipped with a JA-65R module, it can work with all types of JA-60 wireless items and wireless UC output modules (see brief overview of items in enclosed catalogue).

- **Detectors** one wireless JA-60 detector can be enrolled to each control panel zone (i.e. up to 16 detectors)
- Keypads and remote controls up to 8 wireless controllers can be enrolled to the control panel (JA-60F and JA-60D keypads, RC-40, RC-22 and RC-60remote controls)
- JA-60A Wireless siren only one can be enrolled to a control panel – position A (next JA-60A can be enrolled to detectors positions)
- wireless output modules UC-216 and UC-222 have relays, which copy the status of the control panel's programmable outputs PgX and PgY. An unlimited number of the UC modules can be used with each system.

Follow the particular wireless item manual when installing. After you install the item to desired location, leave it un powered and without its cover. The method of enrollment is described in section 11.1.

#### 9. Back up battery installation

there is a space for size 12V, 7Ah battery. According to the desired backup period a 12V back up battery from 1.3Ah to 45Ah can be used instead. A battery larger than 7Ah must be installed in an external case and the case must be equipped with tamper protection.

The control panel recharges and checks the condition of the back up battery. If the system is powered from the battery for a long time and the battery is nearly discharged, the control panel will first trigger a

For battery back up time calculation use the following stand-by consumption rates:					
	module JA-65R	20mA			
	module JA-65X	12mA			
		45 4			

	12110
module JA-65H	15mA
main b. JA-65K	10mA
keypad JA-60E	25mA
Module JA-60GSM	50 mA

technical alarm and it will then disconnect the battery to prevent damage. After the main power is on again, the battery will be re-connected and will automatically re-charge.

- insert the battery into the control panel
- connect the battery cables (red +, black )

Warning - do not make any short connection of the battery terminals!

#### 10. First powering of the control panel

- Check that all cables are connected correctly
- Switch on the AC power
- The JA-60E keypad will display a "P", confirming that the system is in the programming mode (for system setting, enrollment of wireless items and for testing).
- If the JA-60F keypad is used, see 11.1 how to enroll it

**Note:** if "P" is not displayed, the control panel is not in the factory default setting. Perform a Factory default reset. (See section 13).

## 11. Control panel programming

Functions of the system can be customized. The most convenient programming method is via a connected PC using the Comlink software (see 14). Programming can also be performed by entering programming sequences from the system keypad while in the programming mode:

- If the control panel is not in the programming mode, open it (entering *F 0 SC* SC = Service Code, factory default SC=6060) The programming mode will be indicated by a "P" on the LED display. This mode can only be entered when the panel is disarmed. In this mode, no alarm can be triggered. Detectors and other accessories can be enrolled, the system parameters can be set up and the system can be tested.
- The parameters of the control panel can be set by entering programming sequences from the keypad. Any unfinished programming sequence can be terminated by pressing the **N** key.
- To exit the programming mode, press the N key ("P" will turn off). If any fault is indicated when you try to exit the programming mode, the control panel will inform you of the problem (see programming sequence 39x for more details).

Function	sequence	options	factory d.	note
Enrolling of detectors and controllers	1	1& 7 scroll, 2 erase pos., 3 controllers, 4 all	-	w. <b>R</b> module only
Hard-wired zone input setting	60 nn xyz	<b>nn</b> – zone n., <b>x</b> – triggering, <b>y</b> – reaction, <b>s</b> - section	all off	w. <b>H</b> module only
Exit delay	20x	<b>x</b> = 1 to 9 (x 10sec.)	30sec.	
Entrance delay	21x	<b>x</b> = 1 to 9 (x 10sec.)	30sec.	
Alarm duration	22x	<b>x</b> = 1 to 8 (min.), 0=10s, 9=15min	4min.	
Function of PgX output	23x	<b>x</b> = 0 to 8 (0-Chime, 1-Fire, 2- Arm, 3-Panik, 4-Alarm, 5-Door, 6-Home, 7-No AC, 8-Phone	Chime	split system has different setting
Function of PgY output	24x	<b>x</b> = 0 to 8 (0-Chime, 1-Fire, 2- Arm, 3-Panik, 4-Alarm, 5-Door, 6-Home, 7-No AC, 8-Phone	Arm	split system has different setting
Voice m. & tel. Numbers editable in the user mode	25x	251 = YES 250 = NO	NO	w. X module only
Radio signal jamming regular testing	26x	261 = YES 260 = NO	NO	w. R module only
Regular communication check enabled	27x	271 = YES 270 = NO	NE	w. R module only
RESET enabled	28x	281 = YES 280 = NO	YES	
Subsystem arming enrollment	290	will enroll to sub-control panel as wir	eless controller	w. R module only
Control panel enrollment to a UC-2xx, subsystem,	299	will send enrolling signal		w. R module only
No code requested (effects 🛤, 🚮, 🗐, F4, F8 & F9)	30x	301 = YES 300 = NO	YES	
Partial (Home) arming enabled (  )	31x	311 = YES 310 = NO	YES	
Siren alarm enabled	32x	321 = YES 320 = NO	YES	
Exit delay audible indication enabled	33x	331 = YES 330 = NO	YES	
Partial arming exit delay audible indication	34x	341 = YES 340 = NO	NO	
Entrance delay audible indication enabled	35x	351 = YES 350 = NO	YES	
Arming & disarming chirp sounds enabled	36x	361 = YES 360 = NO	NO	
Siren in Disarm & Partial arming enabled	37x	371 = YES 370 = NO	YES	D and do and
Wireless siren alarm enabled	38x	381 = YES 380 = NO	YES	w. R module only
Indication of system problems when arming	39x	391 = YES 390 = NO	NO	
Split control panel (A, B & C sections)	690x	6901 = YES 6900 = N0	NO	
Only first source of alarm is recorded	691x	6911 = YES 6910 = NO	NO	
Alarm triggered by opened zone when arming	692x	6921 = YES 6920 = NO	NO	only if <b>391</b>
Audible panic alarm	693x	6931 = YES 6930 = NO	NO	
Next delay wireless detectors	694x	6941 = YES 6940 = NO	NO	
Communication loss alarm	696x	6961 = YES 6960 = NO	YES	
Entering the programming mode by SC+MC/UC	697x	6971 = YES 6970 = NO	NO	
Addressing of wireless controllers to sections	63 nns	nn- controller n., s- section	all A	split & R module
Automatic arming/disarming setting	64nahhmm	n- 0-9, a-action #, hh-hours, mm-min.	all off	
New Service Code setting	5 nSC nSC	nSC = new Service Code	6060	enter code twice
Real time and date setting	4 hh m	m DD MM RR 00 00	01 01 00	
User Mode entering	6999	Switching to the User mode	-	

## List of control panel programmable parameters

#### 11.1. Enrollment (teaching) of wireless items

enter:

If the control panel has a 65R module, as a maximum 16 wireless detectors and 8 controllers (remote controls & keypads) can be enrolled to the control panel. A wireless siren and an additional JA-60 or JA-65 control panel (a subsystem) can be enrolled as well.

- **Press key 1** (while "P" is displayed) to enter the enrolling mode. The control panel will display the next free position to enroll a detector.
  - If no JA-60E keypad is used in the installation and you need to enroll a wireless JA-60F keypad:
    - connect (short) the RESET pins on the control panel board it will open the learning mode (tamper in the control panel must remain opened)
    - install batteries to the JA-60F keypad and wait until the keypad enrolls. Enrollment will be confirmed on the keypad.
    - disconnect the RESET pins and then use the keypad to enroll all the other items in following way
- Use key 1 and 7 to scroll (up and down) all control panel wireless positions – 1 to 16 (detectors) – c1 to c8 (controllers & keypads) – A (wireless siren) – J (sub control panel JA-6x). The display shows the position number while the Battery LED indicates if the position is occupied. The system will not allow enrollment of an item into a noncorresponding position (a detector can not be enrolled into a controller position etc.).
- Detectors and keypads are automatically enrolled when their power is switched on (batteries are installed). A remote control is enrolled only after both of its buttons are simultaneously pressed and held for 3 seconds. A subsystem control panel will enroll after sequence 299 is entered while it is in its programming mode. The system will not allow enrollment of an item into a non-corresponding position (a detector can not be enrolled into a controller position etc.).
- **Control panel confirms enrollment** with a "beep" (press F to select a louder "beep" sound). The LED display will show the number of the enrolled item for 2 seconds and then it will display the number of the next free position.
- To change the position of an enrolled item is simple. Enroll it to the new selected position (the item will "move"). If you enroll an item to an occupied position, the former item will be deleted and only the new enrollment is valid. Only one item (detector, controller etc.) can be stored to each position.
- Erase an enrolled item the following way: in the enrolling mode select the corresponding position and then press and hold key 2 for two seconds. The item will be erased (confirmed with a long beep). If you press and hold key 3, all enrolled controllers (remote controls and keypads) will be erased. Pressing and holding key 4 will erase all enrolled items (detectors, controllers, siren and the sub system).
- The JA-60A wireless siren will generate an enrollment signal when its power is switched on (it will enroll to position A). If you need to enroll a siren which is already powered and it is not possible to easily switch off its power, you can enroll it the following way: enter the enrolling mode and then enter the 6 digit siren production code (printed in the siren's manual). The control panel will "request" the signal only if it has no current communication with any other control panel (This protects you from enrolling your neighbor's siren). Enrollment is completed about five seconds after the code is entered.
- By pressing the button 8 in the enrolment mode the communication quality of the items can be checked (LED indicator "battery" will start flashing). After receiving signal from the item the level of the signal is shown on the display from 0 to 10 (corresponding to 0-100% in the ComLink software). In this mode it is also possible to adjust level of audible indications by pressing the button F and

scroll positions of the enrolled items by pressing buttons 1 and 7. Button N exits checking mode.

#### • To exit the enrolling mode press the N key

**Note:** If you do not use JA-60E in your installation, you can enter the learning mode in a different way. Shorten the RESET pins No.K11. This way the JA-60F keypad will be enrolled to the system. You can remove the jumper now.

**Note:** if an item was not enrolled after its batteries were installed, it is because the control panel recognized its radio signal as a weak one. Items are only enrolled if their radio signal has a level which guarantees reliable communication. Check the detector's batteries and try to enroll the problematic sensor once more. If it is not accepted by the control panel, you should change the location of the item. All items should be located 1 m or more from the control panel.

#### 11.2. Hard-wired zone input setting

#### sequence: 60 nn xys

If there is a 65H module in the control panel, wire operated detectors can be connected to the control panel. Setting of the zone inputs is possible by entering: **60 nn xys** where:

- nn zone number: 01 to 16
- **x** input triggering: 0 = off, 1 = Normally Closed,  $2 = balanced loop (EOL resistor 10 k<math>\Omega$ ),  $3 = double balanced loop (EOL resistors 2x10 k<math>\Omega$ )
- **y** reaction: 0 = Instant, 1 = Delayed, 2 = Fire, 3 = Panic, 4 = Tamper, 5 = Next delayed, 6 = control
- s address to section, 1 = A, 2 = B, 3 = C (shared common section, which is armed only if both A and B sections are armed). If the control panel is not split, select s=1; if you select s=2 then this zone will be automatically bypassed within partial arming. For details about splitting see section 11.23.

#### Notes:

- If you will not use a particular input, switch it off with x = 0
- Next delayed input (y=5) provides entrance delay only if in the moment of its triggering the entrance delay has been in progress (activated before by any delayed input). If no delayed input is triggered before next delayed, the triggering will cause instant alarm.
- Addressing of inputs to section C when the control panel is not split has the same effect as addressing to B section (i.e. automatic bypass while partial arming is used).
- If y=6 is programmed, then each triggering of this input changes arming status (arm – disarm – arm...) of the entire system or just the corresponding section if the system is split.

**Example:** to set zone 2 input as a balanced loop with an instant reaction, addressed to A section, enter: 60 02 201

Factory default setting: all hard-wired inputs are switched off.

#### 11.3. Exit delay

sequence: 20 x

To change the duration of the exit delay enter 20x (where x represents time in seconds x10). The delay can be selected from 10 to 90 seconds.

**Example:** to select an Exit delay duration of 20 seconds, enter 202 **Factory default setting** is 30 seconds

#### 11.4. Entrance delay

sequence: 21 x

To change duration of the entrance delay enter: 21x (where x represents time in seconds x10). The delay can be selected from 10 to 90 seconds.

**Example:** To select entrance delay duration of 40 seconds, enter 214

# Factory default setting: 30 seconds 11.5. Alarm duration

sequence: 22x

The alarm duration can be selected from 1 to 8 minutes (or 10 seconds or 15 minutes) entering 22x (where x represents time in minutes, for x=0 the duration will be 10 seconds, for x=9 the duration will be 15 minutes).

Example: to select an alarm duration of 5 minutes, enter 225

Factory default setting: 4 minutes

#### 11.6. PgX and PgY output functions

sequences: 23x & 24x

The control panel outputs PgX and PgY can have different functions, depending on parameter x in the corresponding sequence: 2 3 x – determines

> PgX 2 4 x – determines

> > PgY

triggering of

triggering of

ave	If the	system is sp	lit:
ons,	X	23x (PgX)	24x (PgY)
er x	0	Alarm A	Alarm A
ling	1	Alarm B	Alarm B
	2	Chime A	Chime A
	3	Chime B	Chime B
	4	Arm A	Arm B
	5	Door A	Door B
	6	Panic A	Panic B
	7	FIRE	NoAC
	8	Phone	Phone

- where x represents the following functions (non split system):
- **0 Chime** triggered during the entrance delay (prealarm output)
- 1 **Fire** triggered by a fire alarm (by a smoke or a gas detector)
- 2 Arm activated when the control panel is armed (complete & partial arming)
- 3 Panic activated when a silent panic alarm is triggered
- 4 Alarm triggered by any audible alarm (except panic alarm)
- **5 Door** activated for 5sec. after (♣.) (F3) entering (electric door lock opening)
- 6 **Home** activated when the control panel is partially armed (Home arming)

No AC - triggered by an AC power failure

Phone/F8 – output can be operated remotely by phone or by SMS (if this feature is supported by installed communicator) or locally from the keypad by F81 (ON) and F80 (OFF). If a code is requested to operate the system then the F8x instruction should be followed by a valid user code.

**Example:** the PgX will work as a Panic output when 233 is entered, PgY as Door output when 245 is entered.

#### Factory default setting: PgX=Chime, PgY=Arm

**Note:** the control panel also wirelessly transmits the PgX and PgY signals. Wireless output modules UC-216 and UC-222 can be used to receive the signals (see 11.12). The function of the UC module output relays is determined by the 23x and 24x setting.

## 11.7. Recorded message and phone number editing in the user mode

sequence: 25 x

The User mode, which is accessible with F 0 "Master Code", is for bypass setting, system testing and battery replacement. This setting enables the user to change the voice message and telephone numbers of the built in dialer. If the changes are enabled, then programming sequences for number programming, voice message recording and dialer testing are accessible in the User mode. These settings have effect only when the control panel has a 65X communicator module.

options:

- 2 5 1 changes enabled
- 2 5 0 changes disabled (no dialer programming in the User mode)

Factory default setting: changes disabled

#### 11.8. Radio signal jamming testing

sequence: 26 x

When this function is enabled, the control panel will indicate trouble if the working band is jammed for more than 30 seconds. Jamming will trigger an alarm when the control panel is armed. Do not enable this testing, if the control panel does not have a 65R radio module.

options:

2 6 1 testing enabled

2 6 0 testing disabled

#### Factory default setting: disabled

**Note**: in some locations the system can be repeatedly jammed for some period of time (near radar, TV or radio station etc.). In these cases the control panel can work without any problems because all important data is repeated, but the jamming test should not be enabled. The level of the signals and interference can be observed using the Comlink software (see 14.)

#### 11.9. Regular communication checking

sequence: 27 x

The control panel will check communication regularly with all enrolled items (detectors, keypads, siren etc.) when this function is enabled. If communication is lost with any item, the control panel will indicate the fault of this item (when armed reaction of the system depends on setting 696x, see 11.28). Do not enable this checking, if the control panel does not have the 65R radio module.

options:

271 checking enabled

270 checking disabled

#### Factory default setting: checking disabled

**Note:** in some locations with a strong radio interference (near radar, TV or radio station etc.) the communication can be jammed periodically. The control panel can detect such a strong interference as a temporary loss of communication with an item. Even in this case, the system is usually able to work without any problems, because all important data is repeated, but the communication check should not be used.

#### 11.10. Reset enabled

#### sequence: 28x

The factory default reset (see 13) can be disabled. This way no unauthorized future programming of the control panel will be possible.

options:

- 2 8 1 reset enabled
- 280 reset disabled

Factory default setting: reset enabled

**Note:** if the Master or Service code is forgotten when the reset is disabled, the reset of the control panel will be possible only by the manufacturer.

### 11.11. Controlling of a subsystem

sequence: 290

A wireless master control panel receives event signals (alarms, tampering, faults, low battery) from a JA-6x subsystem if enrolled - see 11.1 and 11.12.

This will cause the same kind of event on the master control panel and  $\mathbf{J}$  will be indicated as the source of the event on the keypad.

The master and slave control panels can be either armed and disarmed as two independent systems or the slave system can follow the arming and disarming of the master. If the master should rule arming of the slave subsystem, make the following settings:

- a. enroll a subsystem to the master's J position,
- b. place the master panel into the programming mode (P is indicated),
- c. enter the enrolling mode in the sub-control panel (pressing key 1 while in the programming mode)
- enter 290 on the master control panel this way the master will be enrolled to the slave subcontrol panel as a wireless controller (to the first free position of c1 to c8)
- e. turn both systems to standby mode and check that the subsystem will be armed (in 2 seconds) after arming of the master control panel. Check the same for disarming

#### Notes:

- Master control panel generates wireless commands Arm and Disarm the same way as a remote control RC-40. The control panel transmits these commands only if it has a subsystem enrolled in its position J.
- The Arm command is generated when the master control panel is completely armed and also at the end of an alarm while the system remains completely armed (automatic alarm timeout). The Disarm command is generated when the master control panel is disarmed, when it is partly armed (home arming or one section arming if it is split) and also in the end of an alarm while the system is disarmed (manual termination of the alarm).
- The subsystem can also be operated by its other controllers (remote controls, keypads) if there are any. For better understanding you can simply imagine, that the master control panel is just another remote control.

**Controlling** of the subsystem by the master control panel **can be disabled** by erasing the corresponding cN position in the sub-control panel. For example if the master control panel was enrolled to position c3, scroll to this position in the enrolling mode and holding key 2 will erase the master control panel as a controller.

# 11.12. Enrollment of the control panel to a UC-2xx or to a master control panel

#### sequence: 299

The control panel can send wireless data to output modules UC–216, UC–222 and UC-260. It can also work as a subsystem of another JA-65 or JA-60 control panel.

Enter the enrolling mode of the **UC receiving device** and then enter **299** and the control panel will transmit the enrollment signal.

If you want to enroll a **subsystem** to your control panel, enter the enrolling mode on the MASTER control panel (see 11.1.) and then enter sequence 299 in the programming mode of the sub control panel.

If the system is split the sub control panel enrolls to the common shared section.

# 11.13. No code requested for (\*\*\*\*), (F1, F2, F3), F4, F8 & F9

#### sequence: 30 x

If this parameter is enabled no code is requested for functions F1, F2, F3, F4, F8 and F9 (or the  $\textcircled{\label{eq:F1}}, \textcircled{\label{eq:F2}}, \textcircled{\label{eq:F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \textcircled{\label{F2}}, \fbox{\label{F2}}, \r{\label{F2}}, \r{$ 

#### Factory default setting: no code requested

**Note:** this feature is also selectable on the JA-60D wireless keypad and it is independent from the control panel setting.

function / setting	300	301
arming	"code"	F 1
partial arming	F 2 "code"	F 2
door opening	F 3 "code"	F 3
memory reading	F 4 "code"	F 4
Appliance control	F 8 "code" 0	F 80
Appliance control	F 8 "code" 1	F 81
message listening	F 9 "code"	F 9

# 11.14. Partial (Home) arming with 主 (F2) (non split control panel)

#### sequence: 31 x

In partial arming, the control panel reacts only to detectors addressed to section A (see 11.2 and 11.31) and it ignores the triggering of detectors in section B or C (except smoke and gas detectors). Partial arming can be disabled with this sequence.

#### options:

- **311** partial arming **enabled**
- 310 partial arming disabled

#### Factory default setting: partial arming enabled

#### 11.15. Hard wired siren alarm enabled

sequence: 32 x

The SIR siren output is activated when any alarm is triggered (except silent Panic alarm). The siren indication can be disabled with this parameter.

options:

- 3 2 1 siren enabled
- 3 2 0 siren disabled

Factory default setting: siren enabled

## 11.16. Exit delay audible indication sequence: 33x

The exit delay can be indicated by the "beeping" of the keypad (for the last five seconds, the beeping is faster). The audible indication can be disabled with this setting.

options:

3 3 1 indication enabled

3 3 0 indication disabled

Factory default setting: indication enabled

## 11.17. Partial arming exit delay audible indication sequence: 3 4 x

Partial arming with (F2) provides an exit delay for delayed reaction detectors in section A. The exit delay for partial arming can be indicated by the "beeping" of the keypad (for the last five seconds the beeping is faster).

options:

3 4 0 indication disabled

#### Factory default setting: indication disabled

**Note:** when this indication is disabled, the confirmation of partial arming and disarming will automatically be silent, regardless of the 36x setting.

#### 11.18. Entrance delay audible indication

sequence: 35 x

The entrance delay can be indicated by a rapid "beeping" of the keypad. This indication can be disabled with this setting.

options:

**351** indication **enabled** 

3 5 0 indication disabled

Factory default setting: indication enabled

## 11.19. Arming and disarming chirps with hard wired siren

sequence: 36 x

The control panel can confirm on the SIR output arming (1 chirp), disarming (2 chirps), disarming with information in the memory (3 chirps), bypass or not ready component when arming (4 chirps). This parameter sets chirps on.

options:

- **3 6 1** siren chirps **enabled**
- 3 6 0 siren chirps disabled

#### Factory default setting: siren chirps disabled

**Note:** setting of chirp sounds is valid even if the siren is disabled for alarms with parameter 320. Partial arming is always silent, if sequence 340 is selected. Chirp sounds can also be generated with the JA-60A wireless siren (self-contained setting in the wireless siren).

## 11.20. Siren alarm in Disarm & Partial arming

sequence: 37 x

The SIR output can be disabled for alarms during the Disarm & Partial arming of the control panel (while somebody is indoors). If the siren output is completely disabled for alarms with parameter 320, this setting has no effect.

options:

- **371** alarm in disarm & partial arming **enabled**
- 370 alarm in disarm & partial arming disabled

Factory default setting: enabled

11.21. Wireless siren alarm

sequence: 38x

The wireless siren alarm function can be disabled with this parameter. This setting will have no influence on the outdoor wireless siren chirp sound function if enabled in the siren. This setting has effect only when the control panel is equipped with a 65R module:

options:

- 3 8 1 siren enabled
- 3 8 0 siren disabled

Factory default setting: siren enabled

## 11.22. Indication of system problems when arming sequence: 39 x

The system regularly checks the conditions of all items (detectors, keypads etc.). This setting ensures that the user will be warned with 4 rapid beeps after arming, if any component of the system is not ready for arming. Cause of the problem (for example permanently triggered detector, lost communication etc.) will remain displayed on the keypad. If the user ignores this warning, the system will arm after the exit delay, then an alarm will be triggered and finally the problematic item will be bypassed for this arming period. After disarming in such a mode, three beeps will be generated as well.

When the indication is not selected, the problematic item will be bypassed when arming with neither warning nor alarm.

If a permanently activated detector is deactivated during arming (for example your main door is not closed), the bypass of this detector will be canceled automatically and the detector will be ready to trigger an alarm after it is activated (if you close the door after the system is armed).

options:

- **3 9 1** warning **enabled**
- 3 9 0 warning disabled

Factory default setting: warning disabled

**Note:** if this indication is enabled, the problems will also be indicated if there are any when leaving the programming or user mode.

#### 11.23. Control panel splitting

#### sequence: 690 x

The control panel can be split in to 2 independent sections A and B, with a shared common area C. This way the system can be operated by two independent user groups. In fact the system in this mode works like two independent systems. If the system is split to the sections with this setting, it is possible to address detectors (both wireless and wired), user codes and remote controls to the above sections (see 11.2., 11.31 and 11.32.).

options:

6 9 0 0no splitting (partial arming available in this mode)6 9 0 1splitting to sections A, B and common C (C is

armed only when both A and B are armed)

Factory default setting: no splitting

#### 11.24. Only first source of alarm is recorded

sequence: 691 x

When any item triggers the alarm 4 times in a row the system will bypass it until any other events occurs. But it is possible to set the limit at the incoming events so only the very first event during the entire alarm will be recorded. This function is useful especially if the system contains a GSM communicator in order to decrease quantity of the SMS messages. This setting is valid for all kinds of the alarm.

Options:

- 6910 All sources of alarm are recorded
- 6 9 1 1 Only first source of alarm is recorded

Factory default setting: All sources of alarm are recorded

## 11.25. Alarm triggered by opened zone when arming sequence: 692 x

If the "indication of system problems when arming" (see 11.22) is enabled, it is also possible to test the status of the detectors after expiring the exit delay. If any item is activated then in case of instant zone the alarm will be triggered immediately, in case of delay zone the entry delay will start.

Options:

6920 test disable

6921 test enable

Factory default setting: test disabled

#### 11.26 Audible panic alarm

sequence: 693 x

For special cases it is possible to set the audible panic alarm.

Options:

**6930** audible panic alarm **disabled** 

6931 audible panic alarm enabled

Factory default setting: disabled

### 11.27. Next delay wireless detectors

sequence: 694x

All wireless detectors set to instant zone mode (see relevant detector manuals) can be programmed as next delay detectors which will not trigger the alarm during the exit and entry delays.

Options:

6940 Next delay disabled

6941 Next delay enabled

Factory default setting: Next delay disabled

Notes:

- This programming sequence concerns only wireless detectors. For hard-wired detectors' setting see 11.2.
- Next delay wireless detectors provide an exit/entrance delay only if at the moment of their triggering any one delayed detector has already been activated. If no delayed detector was triggered before the next delayed one, the triggering will cause an instant alarm.

## 11.28. Communication loss alarm

sequence: 696x

If the regular communication check function is enabled (see 11.9) it is possible to determine if either an alarm will be triggered or a fault indication will be generated when communication with the detectors is lost and the control panel is armed.

Options:

6961 Communication loss causes an alarm

6960 Communication loss causes fault indication

Factory default setting: Communication loss causes an alarm

**Note:** if the control panel is disarmed then in the case of lost communication the fault will be indicated regardless of this setting

## 11.29. Entering the programming mode by SC+MC/UC sequence: 697 x

If it is enabled then Master code or User code must follow the Service code in order to enter programming mode.

Options:

- 6970 MC/UC must follow SC to open programming mode disabled
- 6971 MC/UC must follow SC to open programming mode enabled

Example: If it is enabled then to enter the programming mode (SC 6060/ MC 1234) must be set: F0 6060 1234

Factory default setting: disabled

Note: it has no influence on the user mode entering (F0 MC)

### 11.30. Addressing of wireless detectors to sections sequence: 61 nns

If the control panel is split (see 11.23.) and is equipped with a 65R module, the wireless detectors can be addressed to sections by entering: **61 nns** 

where:

- nn = wireless detector zone number: from 01 to 16
- s = section: 1 = A, 2 = B, 3 = C (common section it is armed only when both A and B are armed). If the control panel is not split, and s=2 (or s=3) is selected, this detector will be bypassed while partial arming.

**Example:** to address wireless detector zone number 3 to section A enter: 61 031

**Factory default setting:** detectors 1 - 10 are addressed to A, detectors 11 - 16 are addressed to B

## 11.31. Addressing of the user codes to sections

sequence: 62 nns

If the control panel is split (see 11.23.), the user codes can be addressed to sections A or B by entering: **62 nns** where:

nn user code number: from 01 to 14

section: 1 = A, 2 = B

s Notes:

- If the control panel is not split, this setting has no effect.
- Master code (MC) can not be addressed. If the system is split, the use of MC will arm all sections if no section is armed or it will disarm all sections if any is armed. If you want to operate only section A with master code, enter F1 MC and F2 MC for section B.

Example: to address user code number 4 to section A enter: 62 04 1

**Factory default setting:** all user codes (01 - 14) are addressed to section A

#### 11.32. Addressing of wireless controllers to sections sequence: 63 nns

If the control panel is split (see 11.23.) and is equipped with a 65R module, the wireless controllers (RC-40, RC-22 and JA-60D) can be addressed to A or B section by entering: **63 nns** 

where:

nn number of the enrolled controller from 01 to 08 (c1 to c8)

S

Notes:

- If the control panel is not split, this setting has no effect
- For the JA-60F keypad this setting has no effect (its user codes are determined by 62nns setting)

Example: to address controller number 5 to section A enter: 63 051

Factory default setting: all wireless controllers are addressed to section  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{A}}$ 

actions' table

## 11.33. Automatic arming / disarming setting

section: 1 = A, 2 = B

sequence: 64 nahhmm

The control panel can automatically arm and disarm for a requested period of a day. Up to ten instructions (time & action) can be programmed in the period of one day by enterina: 64 nahhmm

а	no splitting	split system		
0	no action	no action		
1	arm all	arm all		
2	disarm	disarm all		
3	partial arming	arm A		
4	partial arming	arm B		
5	disarm	disarm A		
6	disarm	disarm B		

where:

- n instruction number from 0 to 9
- **a** action (see the actions' table)
- hh hours (from 00 to 23)
- mm minutes (from 00 to 59)

#### Notes:

- If any automatic action is selected, it will be preformed everyday in the programmed time, following the internal control panel clock (see 11.36.).
- The automatic arming and disarming can be overridden manually anytime (by an user code or a remote control)
- If the control panel is in the requested arming mode before the action time, performance of the programmed action will not change the arming

**Example:** to program an automatic complete arming of the system at 21:15 everyday enter: 64 0 1 21 15

Factory default setting: all instructions are set for no action

## 11.34. New service code setting

sequence: 5 nSC nSC

The Service Code can be used to enter the programming mode. A new Service Code must be entered twice in the sequence to avoid an error. To change the code enter: **5 nSC nSC** where

**nSC** is your new Service Code (four digits)

Example: to change service code to 1276 enter: 5 1276 1276

Factory default setting: service code is 6060

## 11.35. User Mode entering

Sequence: 6999

This sequence is used to switch from the Service Mode to the User Mode, where you can set zones' bypass (see User's manual). You can exit the User Mode by pressing the "N" button. The bypassed zones will remain active after the leaving the User Mode.

## 11.36. Real time and date setting

#### sequence: 4 hh mm dd MM YY

The control panel has a built in real time clock. All events are stored to the event memory including the time of the event. The clock should be set after the installation is completed. Time Setting: **4 hh mm dd MM YY** 

*Example:* on Jun. 30 2005 at 17:15 enter: 4 17 15 30 06 05

After the control panel is powered, its internal clock's default setting is: 00 00 01 01 00

**Note:** detail control panel event history can be viewed with a connected PC using Comlink software.

## 12. System testing

For testing, the control panel should be in the programming mode - "P" indicated on the keypad (see part 11. how to enter programming). No alarm can be triggered in the programming mode and any triggering of a detector (wireless or wired) will make a beep (press F to select for a loud beep by siren) and the LED display will show for a while which zone was triggered. An enrolled wireless controller or siren signal receiving will be similarly indicated.

- Some detectors (JA-60P, JA-60N, JA-60B etc.) have an extra testing mode, which is usually activated for 5 minutes after the detector's cover is attached (see manuals of the particular detectors). If the detector is in testing mode, it will indicate triggering locally, and it will also indicate the triggering on the control panel keypad. Note, that the JA-60P motion detector in normal mode (after 5 minutes testing mode) is ready to send information about next triggering 5 minutes after the previous triggering (this period can be shortened to 1 minute see setting of the JA-60P detector).
- **Triggering of a detector wired** to the H module is indicated at the control panel keypad for about 2 seconds after the triggering. It means, that if a detector is permanently triggered for a longer period, it will not be indicated. If a double balanced input loop (2x 10k) is used, then the control panel distinguishes triggering of the detector from its tampering.
- The best way of testing is via a connected PC using the Comlink software (see section 14). In the service events window you will get a chronological record of all performed tests, including zones setting, quality of communication etc.

**The system can also be tested by a user** in the user mode (confirmed by a "U"). The user mode is accessible with the Master code. To open the user mode enter F 0 MC (= Master Code) when the control panel is disarmed.

## 13. Control panel factory default reset

If you forgot the control panel codes or you have a control panel which is currently not under factory default setting, perform the following procedure:

- disconnect the power and the backup battery of the control panel and wait for 10 sec.
- connect the RESET jumper N. K11 on the main board
- control panel TAMPER must be open
- reconnect the power, "-" will be displayed on the keypad
- within 1 minute disconnect the RESET jumper
- Disconnect the jumper (if you haven't done it before)
- reset is confirmed with "P" (panel is in programming mode)

**Note:** this procedure resets the factory default settings (see part 11.). The Master code will be 1234, Service code 6060 and all user codes, wireless detectors & controllers will be forgotten. All telephone numbers for voice message and Pager dialing will be erased in the 65X communicator. The reset will not erase event memory and information about the reset will be recorded there.

*Warning:* if the Master code is forgotten when reset is disabled (with sequence 280), the control panel reset will be possible only by the manufacturer.

## 14. Personal Computer Interface

The JA-65 system can be connected to a Personal Computer (PC) locally, using the PC-60A (Com port) or PC-60B (USB port) interface cable. If JA-65X module is installed, then it is also possible to dial into the system from a remote PC using the JA-60U modem (see JA-65X). Comlink software is available for Windows system.

**User** can check and operate the JA-65 system easily via their PC, can read complete events memory with all details, can view the map of the installation (seeing topical triggering of the

	ê wit	Utožit	Tisk	Monitor	Ústře	) dha	Událost	- Objekt	Periferie	Nastavení •	Servis Si	nál Ottline R	₹6 emite	
Votes pendia dobati         Pendia dobati         Pendia dobati         Pendia           1         2         3         1														
Image: Second		COME	ORT							Výpis (	parnéti událost			
Image: Section of the section of th		-			1	2	3	1-23		Číslo	Datum	Periferie	Popis	
4         5         0		H	TATE AND		613.00		44			<b>(1)</b> 84.	09:17 06:02	Ústředna	Porucha zálohovacího akumulátoru	
Z       V			OBUCHA		4	5	6	60		C 85.	09:17 06:02	Ústředna	Obnovení akumulátoru	
7       0       N 1013 662       Uderina       Viednina yearanovici         1013 662       Uderina       Niednina       Programovici effa autochni         1013 662       Uderi										<b>(1)</b> 86.	09.17 06.02	Ústředna	Konec problémů s napájením	
Image: Section 1       Image: Section 2       Address and Section 2       Address and Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2         Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2       Image: Section 2 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><b>(1)</b> 87.</td><td>10.13 06.02</td><td>Ústředna</td><td>Všechny sabotážní sensory O.K.</td><td></td></t<>					-					<b>(1)</b> 87.	10.13 06.02	Ústředna	Všechny sabotážní sensory O.K.	
Image: Second control of the second control			-		/	8	9	х.		<b>()</b> 88.	10:13 06.02	Ústředna	Přepnutí do režimu programování	
V 122 662 2 distina Page 126 652 653 750 750 750 750 750 750 750 750 750 7			APALENI			***				C 89.	13:22 06.02	Zařízení na lince	Programovací režim ukončen	
Prima         Prima <th< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>F</td><td>0</td><td>N</td><td>2.4</td><td></td><td><b>()</b> 90.</td><td>13:22 06:02</td><td>Ústředna</td><td>Narušení ochranného krytu</td><td></td></th<>					F	0	N	2.4		<b>()</b> 90.	13:22 06:02	Ústředna	Narušení ochranného krytu	
12.7 66.00       Zalizerina krea       Programoval citata unicolem         12.8 12.3 20.60       Zalizerina krea       Programoval citata unicolem         12.8 12.9 66.00       Zalizerina krea       Programoval citata unicolem         12.8 12.9 66.00       Zalizerina krea       Programoval citata unicolem         12.9 0.00       Zalizerina krea       Programoval citata unicolem         13.9 12.9 0.00       Zalizerina krea       Programo		STRTEM J	A-40							<b>(</b> ) 91.	13:22 06:02	Zařízení na lince	Přepnutí do režimu programování	
Bit         11 27 6 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 27 6 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 27 6 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 28 5 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 6 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into           Bit         11 29 0 (k)         Ustation         Neuder datameters into				<u></u>	_	_			- 12	92.	13:27 06:02	Zařízení na lince	Programovací režim ukončen	
94         13 36 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud do vreduur opprannial           95         13 46 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           95         13 46 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           96         13 46 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           97         13 46 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           97         13 46 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           97         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           97         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           97         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           98         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           98         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           99         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           99         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci setti subodeni           99         13 90 00.2         Zalizerin in kon         Preprud voi ci se				100 C						C 93.	13:27 06:02	Ustředna	Narušení ochranného krytu	
Pit       13 46 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 46 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 46 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 46 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20       Zallanin in koro       Programovoi-ci-sim autodenin         Pit       13 50 60.20										94.	13:35 06:02	Zařízení na lince	Přepnutí do režimu programování	
Mill         134 66 (22)         Utilitienia         Neurulation fortunar impaintonial           Mill         134 66 (22)         Zalaniania here Regrind to include programonial           Mill         135 66 (22)         Zalanianianiania         Programonianiania           Mill         135 66 (22)         Zalanianianiania         Programoniania           Mill         135 66 (22)         Zalanianianiania         Programoniania           Mill         135 66 (22)         Zalanianianianiania         Programoniania           Mill         135 66 (22)         Zalanianianianianianianianianianianianiania										<b>\$5.</b>	13.48 06.02	Zařízení na lince	Programovací režim ukončen	
97         13 48 68 60         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           97         13 49 68 60         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           97         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           97         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           97         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           97         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           97         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           98         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           98         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           916         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           916         13 20 0002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           917         13 20 002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad do referen grapsmoninel           918         13 20 002         Zalismin na know         Fingrad doreman know           9110         13 20 0022         Zalismin na know										96.	13:48 06:02	Ustredna	Narušení ochranného krytu	
1         1         2										97.	13:49 06:02	Zařízení na lince	Přepnutí do režimu programování	
18         18         20         Utilitation         Naturalized column regression (not explored)           19         19         20										98.	13:50 06:02	Zarizeni na lince	Programovaci režim ukončen	
11         13<										99.	13:50 06:02	Ustredna	Narušení ochranného krytu	
111         112 <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>100.</td> <td>13.50 06.02</td> <td>Zarizeni na lince</td> <td>Prephuti do rezimu programovani</td> <td></td>										100.	13.50 06.02	Zarizeni na lince	Prephuti do rezimu programovani	
13.1     13.0										101.	13:50 06:02	Zarizeni na lince	Programovaci režim ukončen	
113         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         24/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           116         123         123         23/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           117         123         123         23/36/71 All ross         Fright All on resting regression           118         124         123         123         123         Fright All ross           118         024										102.	13:50 06:02	Ustredna	Naruseni ochranneno krytu	
114         13 / 2 / 40 / 20         2 / 40 / 40 / 10 / 40 / 40 / 40 / 40 / 40										103.	13:50 06:02	Zarizeni na Ince	Prepruti do rezimu programovani	
1     13 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>104.</td><td>13.52 06.02</td><td>Concern ha ince</td><td>Programovaci rezim skoncen</td><td></td></t<>										104.	13.52 06.02	Concern ha ince	Programovaci rezim skoncen	
10         132.6 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11         132.6 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.0         132.6 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.0         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.0         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.0         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.1         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.1         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.1         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.1         132.0 0.002         Jatimir name         Preprint for retain programming           11.1         0.001.0 0.001         Preprint for retain programming         Preprint for retain programming           11.1         0.001.0 0.002         Unterforma         Knone: problem in magnetimin           11.5         0.004.0 0.002         Unterforma         Knone: problem in magnetimin           11.5         0.004.0 0.002         Unterforma									_	105.	13.52.06.02	Zalizazi na linna	Nordseis ochranitého krytu Přest él de selim u serena minini	
101         15/3 6/62         Validation         Naturalizaci contractivity into 101         Naturalizaci contractivity into 101         15/3 6/62         Validation frame         Naturalizaci contractivity into 101         15/3 6/62         Validation frame         Programsvord cReat aucorea           1110         15/3 6/62         Validation frame         Programsvord cReat aucorea         Programsvord cReat aucorea           1111         15/3 6/62         Validation frame         Naturalizaci contractivity into 111         Programsvord cReat aucorea           1112         15/3 6/62         Validation frame         Programsvord cReat aucorea           1112         15/3 6/62         Validation frame         Programsvord cReat aucorea           1115         6/4 0/47 0/22         Validation frame         Naturalizaci aucorea           1115         6/4 0/47 0/22         Validation         Konee prodelinita i regleravia										106.	12.62.06.02	Zalizaci na lince	Preprint do reamd programovani	
Image: 10         135 (2002)         24 Jaim in a https://doi.org/10         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           110         135 (2002)         24 Jaim in a https://doi.org/10         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           111         135 (2002)         24 Jaim in a https://doi.org/10         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           111         135 (2002)         24 Jaim in a https://doi.org/10.100 monorhold         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           112         135 (2002)         24 Jaim in a https://doi.org/10.100 monorhold         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           113         0411 07 20         041 drain a https://doi.org/10.100 monorhold         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           114         042 40 22         041 drain a https://doi.org/10.100 monorhold         Principal doi: 100 monorhold           115         08 47 07 02         041 drain a         Konse: proteinin a readjennin										107.	12.62.06.02	Langers ha ince	Newijeci ochrasofilo kratu	
110.     112.0 Sta2.     Zalitario ta tec     Pogramovari clinal usoleni       111.     112.0 Sta2.0 Sta2.     Otter freihen     Netwick Clinat usoleni       111.     112.0 Sta2.0 Sta2.     Zalitario fa tec     Preput dio vettor usonovini       111.0     111.0 Sta1.0 Sta2.     Zalitario fa tec     Preput dio vettor usonovini       111.0     111.0 Sta1.0 Sta2.     Zalitario fa tec     None: public 3 reademini       111.0     05.11 V 20.0 Sta1.0 Sta2.     Usifierani K None: public 3 reademini       111.0     05.41 V 20.0 Sta1.0 Sta2.     Usifierani K None: public 3 reademini										108.	13:52:06:02	Zalizeoi na lince	Rienry ti do refimu programovini	
111.         112.0.002         Oldreine         Namulario chranchol privil           112.         112.0.02         Oldreine         Namulario chranchol programovini           113.         041107.02         Oldreine         Knonc problemi rangemini           114.         042107.02         Oldreine         Knonc problemi rangemini           114.         042107.02         Oldreine         Knonc problemi rangemini           115.         08.4707.02         Oldreine         Konce problemi rangemini										110	13 52 06 02	Zařízení na lince	Programovací režim ukopčen	
112         125 30 602         Zalizari na incer         Fileducti do attabu pogranovini           113         06110 722         Gitterina         Konce problem         pogranovini           114         0624 072         Litterina         Konce problem         pograni           115         064 070 702         Uniterina         Konce problem         pograni										111	13 52 05 02	Ústředna	Narušení ochranośko krytu	
11.3.         011117.02         Ustriania         Konec created a negativini           11.4.         02.42.07.22         Ustriania         Konec created a negativini           11.5.         08.47.07.22         Ustriania         Konec created a negativini           11.5.         08.47.07.22         Ustriania         Konec created a negativini										112	13 53 06.02	Zařízení na lince	Přeprutí do režimu progranování	
114.         0824 0732         Ústředna         Konce problémů s naplepním           115.         08 47 0752         Ústředna         Konce problémů s naplepním										112	08 11 07 02	Ústředna	Konec problémů s papájením	
115. 08.47 07.02. Ústředna Konec problemů s napůprán										114	08:24 07.02	Ústředna	Konec problémů s napálením	
1 WW - 10 WO T WITH STOLEN TO THE POST OF										115	08 47 07 02	Ústředna	Konec problemu s napálením	
													Contraction of Composition	

"virtual" control panel access & complete events list

need and 18-40			-16
😂 🖬 🚳 😽 🛄 🗋	Copels Periferie Nastaveni Scrie Scrie	්ට දී∂ Online Remote	
Nestevení ústředny JA68K	<u>11</u>		
Příchodové / odchodové zpoždění 10 💌	1		
Doba poplachu: 10 sec.			
Funkce výstupu PgK:	🐂 Nastaveni tel. komunikátoru	<u>1</u> X	
Funkce výstupu PgY:	Způsob vstáčení čísla: pulsní		
🔽 Změna těl. čísel a zprávy v uživ, režimu 🔽 Akust, signaliz	Telefonni číslo 1: Telefonni číslo 2:		
I⊽ Hlídání rádiového rušení ústředny IV Ak. signal. od	0606 652997 0428 346999		
Pravidelná kontrola spojení s detektory P Akustická sigr	Telefonni číslo 3. Telefonni číslo 4:	🐐 Nastavení tel. komunikátoru	2
Povolení RESETU ústředny P Hlasité potvze	10428 346338	Přístup, kód pro dálkové spojení: Číslo objektu:	
Poplach sréno Poplach sréno	Císlo a zpráva na Pager.	12345678 0850 <u>Head</u>	1
Cástečné zajítění povoleno (F2) 🔽 Poplach bezd	Nonzola telefonni s	Radiovice 2300 * 4/2 *	7
V Siréna v ústředně při poplachu V Upozomění na	Zpráva se přenese při:	Telefonni číslo 1: Telefonni číslo 2	1
Původní	F panik	0428 346930	1
Importovat	IV narušení objektu zpráva 1 + pa;	Doba před opakováním Zvednutí přichoziho voláni	
	IV požár zpráva 2 + paj	10 minut Evedá druhé voláni	1
	Test 1 v sabotáž zpráva 1 + pos	Kódy události pro pult centrálni ochrany:	
	Test 2   F porucha	1 Zajitání culadažem č 1 11	3
		2 Zajítění ovladačem č.2. 12	
	Původní	3. Zajížění ovladačem č.3 13 4. Zajížění ovladačem č.4 14	
	Importovat Iisk OK	5. Zajítění ovladačeni č.5 15	
		6. Zajížění ovladačem č.6 16	
		7. Zavitění ovladačem č.7 17 9. Zavitění ovladačem ž.9 19	
		9 Zailběrí Navrím kódem 19 🔳	•
		Původní	
		Importment Tink OK Stored	
		Tex Tex 20040	-
	FM61185 DV61225	Servis P o 👫	on

#### programming dialogs

# 15. Recommended Professional installer basic rules

If you install the system for a customer, you should follow these rules:

- make a drawing of intended location of the items, keeping in mind proper protection for the intended area.
- if the customer requests reduction of the system (price reasons etc.), ask for a written confirmation that he does not want the particular items you recommended (to avoid blame and liability if poorly covered area is robed in the future)

detectors) etc. However, the user can not change settings of the system.

**Installer** who has access rights can program the system, can check the communication quality of the items, can view the level of interference in the location etc. There is also a convenient tool to make a map of the installation, which includes a library of components.

Depending on your access rights, the Comlink software will allow you to open the corresponding screens (see following examples). There is a comprehensive help file in the Comlink program.



item testing window & RF signal oscilloscope



map of the system (shows current conditions in the house)

- make a professional installation and do not forget to clean and be tidy.
- it is very important to explain to the customer all functions of the system, to teach to him or her how to program access codes, how to test the system and how to replace batteries in the items
- offer your regular assistance for testing and battery replacement (we recommend annually)
- make a written report signed by the customer, that the installation was finished properly and that she or he received your training on how to operate and test the system

## 16. Trouble shooting table

Problem	possible cause	solution
alarm after first powering	the control panel is not in factory default setting	perform a factory default reset
connected JA-60E keypad has no function	connecting cable does not connect the corresponding positions in the keypad and in the control panel (1-1, 2-2, 3-3, 4-4)	Check the colors of the cores in the cable and positions on each side
impossible to enroll a wireless item	location of the item is not suitable and the radio signal level is too low (too far away or an obstacle is in the way of communication)	change location of the item, (fix it in the new place temporary at first and then try it)
a fault is indicated on the keypad and it is beeping	check display for the reason of the trouble. Press key N to disable beeping. The trouble information is stored in the event memory and it can be reviewed entering F4 anytime in the future	check the reason of the trouble in user manual and fix it, or call the installer
If JA-65X is used, telephone line failure is indicated and the phone works as normal	when you make a phone call longer than 15 minutes, it is interpreted by the system that the tel. line is not ready.	if this problem repeats, disable tel. line checking in programming mode
PIR movement detector repeatedly triggers alarms with no visible reason	check if there are: animals in the protected area (mice), sudden changes of temperature or intense air circulation, movement of objects with temperature of about 37°C etc.	increase detector's immunity (internal setting), change location of the detector or use an optional sensor's lens
fault or alarm C is indicated	blown fuse in the control panel or radio communication jamming	PC with Comlink SW gives details
system does not communicate with connected PC	the PC-60A cable is not connected to the correct COM connector on the PC	check the connection or select the port number in SW manually
problem is not in this list	call installer or the distributor for advice	local hot line number:

## 17. Possibilities to extend the system

The JA-65 alarm system is a kit which can be tailor configured according to the size of the house or the needs of the user. It can combine wireless and wire operated components.

## 17.1 Extension of the system with a subsystem

An additional JA-65 or JA-60 control panel can be enrolled as a subsystem to the control panel (see 11.12.). Each system then works as an independent system. However, any event in the subsystem (alarm, tampering, failure or low battery) will trigger the same kind of event on the main control panel (the main control panel will display "J" as the event source). The main control panel will not indicate the number of the item which triggered the event, but this information is available on the subsystem's control panel.

Using this method, multiple level subsystems can be chained.

**Warning:** never enroll the top level control panel as a subsystem of the lower level control panel. This would create endless circle for the data and such an alarm system chain would not work properly.

## 17.2 Extension of the system with a communicator

## **GSM** communicator JA-60GSM

By using GSM communicator JA-60GSM you will get supervision over the system wherever you are. Communicator sends SMS messages, calls to predefined telephone numbers and plays audible warning, communicates with 2 CMS, allows remote access from a phone's keypad and can be set and operate via web page <u>www.GSMlink.cz</u>.

## **Digital communicator JA-65X**

Communicator JA-65X can communicate with a Monitoring Station, send two voice messages, send five SMS messages via SMS server (if it is supported in your country or dial a numeric Pager). It can also communicate with a remote PC (using ComLink SW and a JA-60U modem). By remotely connected PC it is possible to set and/or operate the control panel.

# 17.3 Brief overview of parts suitable for the JA-63 system

The brief overview you got along with this manual includes the basic assortment of accessories. Jablotron is systematically introducing new and improved items to the market. You can get the most current information from your distributor or you can visit Jablotron's Internet home page at: www.jablotron.com

## 18. Control panel specifications:

<b>Electrical</b> Power Backup battery Backup power output for wired items	230 VAC, max 0.35 A, (built in electronic power supply), supervised, protection class II 12 V, from 1.3 to 7 Ah (external up to 40 Ah), supervised, not included 13VDC, the max. permanent current is 0.7 or 1.2 A for max. 15 min (not more then one cycle per hour)
Hard-wired inputs Zone input triggering Zone reaction Modules stand-by consumption	module 65H: 8 input zones, up to two 65H modules can be used (16 zones) selectable: NC, End Of Line resistor or Double End Of Line resistor selectable: instant, delayed, panic, fire, 24 hour, next delayed, control $K=10 \text{ mA}, H=15 \text{ mA}, X=12 \text{ mA}, GSM=50 \text{ mA}, keypad JA-60E=25 \text{ mA}$
Wireless communication	module 65R: up to 16 detectors (JA-60), 8 controllers, 1 outdoor siren JA-60A, subsystem
Working frequency	433.92 MHz; digital hopping code; supervised communication
Keypads	max. 5 wired JA-60E keypads, max. 8 JA-60F wireless keypads or RC-40 or JA-60D remote controllers
Access codes	master code and 14 user codes. When system is split, codes, detectors and remote controls can be addressed to particular sectors
Wired outputs	Alarm relay dry contacts 1A/60V; programmable outputs PgX & PgY (Chime, Fire, Arm, Panic, Alarm, Door, Home, AC failure, Phone), siren output (12 V, 0.7 A)
Wireless outputs	module 65R transmits signals for siren and PgX, PgY data for UC-2xx receivers
Events memory	127 most recent events including date, time and detailed specification
<b>_</b> ·	

#### Environmental

Operating temperature	-10°C to 40° C
Operating humidity	max 80 %
Working environment	indoor use (class II, EN 50131-1)

#### Electronic design

Design

Electrostatic discharge RF immunity SMT; modular system (radio module 65R, hardwired zones module 65H, telephone communicator module 65X); full supervision; monitoring of RF jamming 8 kV 30 V / m

#### Physical

-	
Housing	metal box with built-in electronic power supply
Dimensions	295 x 280 x 90mm
Shipping weight	2.72kg
Color	white or light gray

#### Standards

Complies with: EN 50131-1 (Grade 2), EN 50131-6, EN 300220, ETS 300 683, EN 50136, ETS 300001, TBR 21

#### \*\* can be operated according to ERC REC 70-03

Hereby, Jablotron Ltd., declares that this JA-65 is in compliance with the essential requirements and other relevant provisions of Directive 1999/5/EC. Original of the conformity assessment can be found at the web page www.jablotron.com, section Technical support.

**Note:** Dispose of batteries safely depending on the type of the batteries and local regulation. Although this product does not contain any harmful materials we suggest you to return the product to the dealer or directly to the producer after usage.